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For everyone who helped to save the National Library of Australia’s Trove database, without which this book would not exist.


Please note that this book contains descriptions of and references to mental health issues, sexual assault, murders and other forms of graphic violence, which readers may find disturbing.


This book retains pre-decimal usage of miles for distance and pounds for weight.


1 mile = 1.61 kilometres.


1 pound = 0.45 kilograms.
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In Australia there now exists … a period of financial depression, with concomitant unemployment, starvation and misery. It is only natural that there should be a series of crimes against property … But murder is another matter: especially as, in the recent horrifying murders, robbery has not been a direct motive … One characteristic of them, in any case, is a total disregard for human life. 


— ‘Grim Riddle of the Murder Wave’, The Sun, 1 May 1932




All records for endurance investigations are likely to be smashed by the C.I.B. squad which, since December 10, has been probing the murder of May Miller, the inquiries into whose death were additional to those incidental to the killing of Bessie O’Connor …


— ‘Never Let Up – Murder Squad Has Busy Life’, The Sun, 11 January 1933









Author’s Note


The detectives look for all the world like tough cops from a Warner Bros. gangster film – and they’ve just caught a murdering monster who might have slunk from the shadows in a Universal horror flick. But this isn’t the movies. It’s real life. And now, with the bloodthirsty killer dubbed ‘the Park Demon’ safely behind bars, the hard men of the Murder Squad are off to the pub.


The 1933 street photograph on the cover of this book is not the sort of image we associate with Australia during the Great Depression. Instead, this period conjures other tragedies and triumphs: unemployed men on the bush track looking for work; Phar Lap thundering past the post to put pennies in the pockets of poor punters; families by the wireless listening to the first broadcast of the ABC; Don Bradman and his cricketers bravely facing the Bodyline onslaught; the Sydney Harbour Bridge finished at great sacrifice, only for its opening to be usurped by a slashing fascist crank. But what’s forgotten about those dark times is that Sydney and New South Wales – Australia’s biggest city and biggest state by population – also suffered a succession of horrific killings that beggared belief and shocked the entire nation.


These mysteries and murders – concurrent with rampant unemployment, immense poverty and dislocation, and unprecedented political upheaval that engendered fear of a communist revolution and spawned the rise of the right-wing New Guard – were investigated by  an elite group of detectives at a time when the police force in New South Wales was being transformed by changes in leadership, organisation, communication, technology and science. They were also working in a very different physical landscape. Sydney then had a population of 1.25 million – it has 5.25 million today – and even inner-city suburbs had pockets of scrub and vacant land, while outer suburbs were dotted with farms and surrounded by bush.


This book focuses on the worst years of the Great Depression – 1929 to 1934 – and largely, but not exclusively, on investigations led by Detective-Sergeant Thomas Walter McRae, the biggest man on the cover photograph. One, known as the Pyjama Girl case, is still infamous, while the rest have fallen into obscurity, even though the Bungendore Bones, the Moorebank Murders, the Park Demon, the Hammer Horror and the Human Glove mysteries were very well known at the time. Some of their notoriety was due to the fiercely competitive tabloid newspapers. While they often had genuine scoops based on insider information, they just as regularly printed wild speculation or even outright fabrication, turning up the pressure on police while also compromising accused people’s right to a fair trial.


Detective McRae would be celebrated by these newspapers as one of Australia’s foremost murder experts as he rose to be chief of the New South Wales Homicide Squad. His evidence-gathering methods – and those of his colleagues who made up the ‘murder squads’ assembled to tackle challenging cases – were seen as ingenious at a time when even science-fiction writers wouldn’t have dreamed of computer databases, surveillance cameras, DNA or GPS as crime-fighting tools. But McRae and his fellow officers also worked in a period when fists, batons and even revolvers were used, with few or no consequences, against ordinary citizens, locked-out coalminers, striking timber workers, marching communists and ranting fascists.


With such brutalities committed in the open, and even in front of press cameras, what could cops get away with inside police stations when they were questioning men and the occasional woman whom they believed to be guilty of horrific murders? Though detectives denied such practices, defence solicitors and barristers regularly argued that their clients had been subjected to prolonged and unfair interrogations that resulted in ‘voluntary statements’. Threats and promises might be used: ‘If you’re convicted of murder, you’re going to hang, but if it was only manslaughter, you’ll be out in a few years  …’ Meanwhile, these suspect interviews could be reshaped into narratives: an answer of ‘Yes’ to the question ‘Were you driving the car that night with Bill?’ might then be presented as a statement: ‘I was driving the car that night with Bill  …’ Such practices were pervasive. Yet accusations of frame-ups were also falsely made by desperate culprits, who would say anything to avoid the death sentence.


What happened? Who did what? Who’s telling the truth? Where’s the evidence? What can be proved? These are questions central to solving any murder, but we can also ask them in relation to how these homicide investigations were conducted. This book presents numerous cases where we have a chance to weigh the main evidence, assess the character of the accused, ponder the fairness of police testimony, consider the justness of punishments and assess the effect of newspaper hysteria. There aren’t always answers beyond reasonable doubt, even in cases where killers were found guilty, and several murderers got away with their crimes, leaving fascinating enduring mysteries.


McRae’s career is a fitting lens through which to examine this era, not only because he worked on so many major crimes, but also because his own fate would ultimately hinge on how these questions were answered. In 1886, the year of McRae’s birth, Friedrich Nietzsche published Beyond Good and Evil: Prelude to a Philosophy of the Future, which included lines that have often been applied to homicide detectives around the world – and they’re cetainly as fitting to the men of The Murder Squad: ‘He who fights with monsters should be careful lest he thereby become a monster. And if thou gaze long into an abyss, the abyss will also gaze into thee.’









Prologue


The Pyjama Girl


Saturday 8 September 1934


Cutting off the young woman’s head would be the wrong move.


Detective-Sergeant Thomas Walter McRae knows this. For the past week, hundreds of people have flocked to the Albury morgue to gaze at the girl in the ice bath to see if they recognise her. While she’s a terrible sight, at least she’s in one piece. But her features are beginning to contort and she can’t be kept on ice indefinitely. Thus the suggestion to decapitate.


But will ordinary citizens be able to handle a face staring out from a jar of formalin? Just last year McRae put away a murderer where the vital evidence was the entire epidermis of the victim’s right hand preserved in this way. Those floating, spongy fingers were a revolting spectacle in court. Better, in this case, that potential witnesses not be confronted with a head in a jar. Better that they expect to look upon the face and full body of the woman now known as ‘the Pyjama Girl’.


Whoever she is, the newspapers have given her the allure of a fairytale: the beauty lying in repose, awaiting someone to utter the magic words – her name – that will solve the mystery of her death and bring a killer to justice. It’s true she’d been attractive in life: creamy skin, blue eyes, fine features, fashionably bobbed hair dyed light brown, a small and slender figure. The image of her being killed in her yellow silk pyjamas is also haunting.


For the police, all of this is good news: the greater the public interest, the greater the chance someone will come forward with information. But anyone expecting to gaze upon Sleeping Beauty is in for a shock. The girl was bludgeoned, leaving her with multiple skull fractures and a severe wound to the forehead. Her body was bent into a sack, dumped in a culvert on a country road, doused in kerosene and set ablaze; only rain had prevented her corpse from being burned up entirely.


Remarkably, the Pyjama Girl’s facial features are intact. In the past week, millions have read about the case and seen an artist’s impression of how she looked in life. The story is the biggest murder mystery in years, which is really saying something, given what McRae has seen since the world slid into the Great Depression. Yet despite all the publicity, no one has identified her.


That’s why McRae has been sent to Albury. He’s made his name solving headline cases where the victim’s identity had to be established from bits of bone or flaps of skin.


As good as he is, McRae doesn’t work alone. Today he is conferring with his frequent partner, Detective-Sergeant Frank ‘Len’ Allmond, and their chief at the Criminal Investigation Bureau (CIB), Detective-Inspector William Prior. These colleagues and others form an elite group of investigators who regularly have their names and photos in the papers as they try to solve bloody murders and bring monsters to justice. These men have seen the New South Wales force evolve from the time when mounted constables still chased bushrangers to a modern organisation that uses cars and motorbikes, fingerprints and forensics, telephones, radio and even moving pictures. Individually, these detectives are minor celebrities. Together, they’re the Murder Squad – and McRae, the chief of the Homicide department, is first among equals.


Now McRae’s idea is that the Pyjama Girl be kept in one piece. Embalm her and she’ll be easier on the eye for witnesses and she’ll be preserved for as long as it takes for that crucial witness identification. McRae’s recommendation is approved and the delicate process is undertaken, heralded in the newspapers as the first time in policing history that a murder victim has been mummified to solve a mystery. Soon the Pyjama Girl will be moved to the University of Sydney and kept in a zinc-lined coffin filled with formalin, able to be hooked from the fluid whenever she needs to be shown to someone who might know her name.


What McRae can’t know is that by preserving the Pyjama Girl, he’s cementing in place one piece of the path that will lead to his professional and personal destruction.
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From Strathalbyn to a Sydney Slaying


Death could come at any moment.


Tom McRae learned this as a twelve-year-old lad in Strathalbyn, a Scottish settlement on the Angas River in South Australia, about forty miles south-east of Adelaide. For the town’s children, summer meant having a splash or catching some fish. Yet few could venture safely into water of any depth, because most of the town’s population, young and old alike, couldn’t swim.


On Friday 9 December 1898, Tom’s eight-year-old brother, Donald, and a younger mate were crayfishing at Kings Waterhole, where the water was eleven feet deep. Hauling in his net, Don overbalanced and fell in. His friend screamed and ran for help. A local man jumped into the water, grabbing Don as he went under again. But the rescuer couldn’t swim either, and when the panicking boy thrashed, they both sank. The man let go and struggled to the surface. Another bloke dived into the depths and found Don at the bottom, trapped beneath rocks. He couldn’t free him, but a third man succeeded and brought the boy to shore. This rescuer and a local doctor tried to resuscitate the lad. But Don was gone. Having received a ‘full report’, the coroner ruled there was no need for an inquest and released the body for burial.


The tragedy cast a pall of gloom over Strathalbyn. The McRaes were a pioneering family in the district. Tom, his five siblings and other Presbyterian Sunday School children headed a long funeral procession to the cemetery and sang a hymn at Don’s grave. A week later, a swimming association was formed in the town to teach children how to save themselves in such situations.


Don’s death surely had Tom asking big questions. How could God let this happen? Was everyone telling the truth? Had the little mate knocked or pushed his brother into the water, either accidentally or intentionally? Was the first rescuer to blame for not hanging on? Could anyone have saved Don? These were mysteries he could not solve – and without an inquest no further answers would be forthcoming. In the decades ahead, Tom would ask similar questions as he stood over dozens and dozens of bodies – and the answers he found would inform the testimonies he gave on behalf of these dead at inquests and trials. But McRae would also ask himself the hard questions again in a personal capacity, over the mortal remains of two more of his nearest and dearest.


Tom grew to stand half an inch shy of six feet. He was a sturdy twelve stone, with blue eyes, brown hair and a fresh complexion. After finishing school, he became a bootmaker, as would his younger brother Archie. Outside of work, Tom was a sporting man, good at athletics, and active in raising money for local charities.


Around 1909, he moved 525 miles east to Yackandandah, in north-eastern Victoria. This put him in the orbit of Mildred House, five years his senior, whose family lived in nearby Albury. Tom and Mildred moved to Sydney and tied the knot in Paddington in February 1911. On their marriage certificate, he listed his residence as Victoria Barracks and his occupation as soldier.


Early the following year, McRae signed up for the New South Wales police instead and began his training at the Bourke Street Academy in Redfern. Recruits got three weeks of instruction, including classroom studies and physical exercise. After their passing-out parade, probationary constables started their real education under sergeants at city or country stations.


McRae was posted to the little village of Cooma, in the Snowy Mountains, gateway to the ski resorts and no hotbed of crime. The modest highlights of his first year included a local who poisoned himself with arsenic and the alleged theft of whisky belonging to the Railway Commissioner. But, beyond protecting life and property, McRae had his hands full, because with no union to protect their interests, police were expected to work unlimited hours, seven days a week and without scheduled time off – and do it all on a minimal salary while paying their own expenses.


Officers had an astonishing array of duties dumped on them by government departments. These included: inspecting slaughterhouses, theatres and public halls, dairies and butter factories, fisheries and tobacco; acting as agents for the Government Savings Bank; having charge of the electoral, mining, aliens and small debts registers; completing returns of jury lists and agricultural estimates; registering dogs and licensing motorcar drivers; assisting pensioners with their enquiries; and keeping records of rations given to local Indigenous people. While city police might not be called on to fulfil each of these roles, country coppers could expect to do most of them and many others besides. If there was an upside to such overload, it was that it gave McRae a wide understanding of different people, places and processes – good training for any aspiring detective.


Constable McRae would have done his duties on foot, bicycle or horseback, or in a sulky. In 1912 the New South Wales police had just one motorcar: a single-seater roadster for the personal use of the all-powerful inspector general in Sydney. Communications were also primitive – it’d be another six years before the Cooma police station had a telephone connection.


When McRae wasn’t working, he and Mildred were active in the Presbyterian Church and in community affairs. He was a skilled marksman, winning rifle-shooting competitions for Cooma, and entertained locals with his singing, performing with the Male Chorus Musical Society.


When the Great War broke out in 1914, McRae’s occupation meant he wasn’t expected to enlist. But amid the patriotic fervour, 206 other New South Wales policemen did sign up. A quarter of them would never return, the depletion of the force so great that in August 1915 the new Inspector General, James Mitchell, banned further enlistment. A particular loss to the force’s rank and file was Ted Larkin, a former Sydney police officer who, before enlisting, had become a member of the state parliament, where he had advocated for a police association. The hopes of many coppers for better pay and conditions – and even the simple ability to request a transfer to a more amenable location – died with Larkin at Gallipoli. They wouldn’t be revived until well after the war.


In autumn 1916, the inspector general transferred McRae from Cooma to Queanbeyan. Relocating 60 miles north over country roads was a hassle, but Tom and Mildred soon settled into their new home and again became active in church and community affairs. In what perhaps felt like an uncanny echo of his own childhood tragedy, soon after McRae took up his new post, toddlers Eric Lee and Percy Oldfield, both just two years old, wandered unseen from a house to a nearby river. Only Percy returned. A frantic search recovered Eric, his body still warm, but efforts to revive him were in vain. As the Queanbeyan Age  and  Queanbeyan Observer reported:


Constable McRae proceeded to the residence of Percy Oldfield, with the intention of questioning the little fellow. His childish prattle was not altogether intelligible to others than his mother, but the constable understood the facts of the case from the tiny boy’s own lips. Questioned by the officer thus: – ‘Where is Eric Lee?’ the child replied, ‘Eric fell in the river and cried.’ The pathetic statement only too truly told its own tale.


This time there was an inquest, McRae giving the evidence that confirmed it had been a tragic accident. It’d seem reasonable to assume he sympathised deeply with the grieving family.


At some point around this period, though the timing and circumstances aren’t known, he and Mildred had their own sorrow when she became pregnant but lost the baby – either as a result of miscarriage or soon after the birth.


Six months after relocating to Queanbeyan, McRae was bounced to Eden, on the far South Coast. There was a note of frustration in the wording of the ad he placed in a local newspaper to sell all his and Mildred’s furniture and effects – right down to their forty pot plants. Perhaps it was better to start afresh rather than haul everything 160 miles south-east.


Eden could hardly have been further from the Great War, where McRae’s brother Archie, having survived a gunshot wound at Gallipoli, was now serving on the Western Front. Yet McRae’s first notable policing triumph, in July 1917, was connected to the conflict. About ten miles out to sea, the SS Cumberland became the first ship to fall victim to an enemy mine in Australian waters, the explosive laid by the German raider Wolf. Crippled, the ship beached at Gabo Island, where some cargo washed ashore and was pinched by a trio of local fishermen.


With these plunderers based in Eden, McRae was on the case, despite Gabo Island officially being under Victorian jurisdiction. He motored out to the crime scene, where he got a confession from one crook that led to him and his mates being convicted and fined. Given the criminal spoils had included tins of preserved rabbit, it wasn’t like McRae had caught Jack the Ripper. But his work got him noticed by senior police in Sydney. This included rising star William ‘Billy’ MacKay, who noted that McRae was to be ‘commended on the splendid manner in which he tackled the job’.


The Great War expanded the police’s already onerous workload in New South Wales. In February 1916, 5000 Australian soldiers protested conditions at their Casula camp by commandeering trains and going on a drunken riot around Sydney, with the fallout being the introduction of early closing times for pubs and the start of the ‘six o’clock swill’. The task of ejecting rowdy drunks who refused to leave bars at closing, and of charging publicans who kept serving illegally, thereafter fell to the constabulary. More pressingly, the New South Wales force henceforth had to tackle sly-grog merchants, the most powerful of whom organised into violent gangs and presented tempting corruptions to officers.


The state’s police were also put to political uses, being arrayed against communists, unionists, peace activists and anti-conscriptionists. The most notorious instance of such suppression, offering a rare public glimpse into the force’s by-any-means-necessary mentality, was the September 1916 arrest on treason charges of a dozen members of the Industrial Workers of the World (IWW), an international labour union, with the cops allegedly using lying informants, planting evidence and concocting confessions.


McRae got a taste of city policing when he was seconded to Sydney during the Great Strike of 1917, the bitterest conflict in Australian industrial history. The work of the constables was hard and hazardous, with men often on duty from four in the morning until midnight. There were also conflicting emotions for the many police who wanted their own collective representation, so they could negotiate better pay and conditions, and yet they found themselves protecting ‘scabs’ undermining the activities of unionists battling to protect their workplace rights. Wanting to ensure the loyalty of cops who’d been on these frontlines, the inspector general authorised a special allowance for all officers who did strike duty. McRae would get an extra three shillings for each day he was in Sydney – and an extra week of annual leave. Around this time, he was also promoted to constable second class.


But the inspector general giveth and the inspector general taketh away. In April 1918, the McRaes were uprooted yet again – this time to Burrinjuck, some 240 miles to the north-west, in the Riverina district. The Twofold Bay Magnet reported that the locals sent them off with all good wishes: ‘Never had Eden had a more popular officer than “Mac”.’


McRae soon endeared himself to his new town. In July 1919, Burrinjuck – like most of Australia – was ravaged by the Spanish flu; when the local Kershaw family was hit particularly hard, with the father and a son dying and other members of the household seriously ill, McRae organised a charity drive to assist them.


In January 1921 a new life for the couple beckoned in Sydney when McRae, by this time promoted to constable first class, was transferred to the No. 1 station in Clarence Street. Given his beat was now the big bad city, he’d be working in plain clothes and learning from the best. These included Detective-Inspector William Prior, the rising man of the CIB, and Detective-Sergeant Billy MacKay, a fiercely proud Scot who had direct charge of No.1 and took an interest in officers of Caledonian heritage.


In the decade since McRae had joined the force, there had been many changes in Sydney policing. Most visible was a new dark-blue, military-style uniform worn with leather boots and a flat-topped cap with a shiny nickel badge. Officers now carried leather batons, filled with sand for extra socking power, and revolvers or semiautomatic pistols, which they kept beneath their tunics in leather holsters. The force had appointed its first female police officers, Lillian Armfield and Maud Rhodes. More and more stations had electric lights and telephone connections. Cars, vans and motorbikes were increasingly used, and in the not-too-distant future a few powerful cars would be equipped with wireless radios so patrols could receive real-time orders and speed to crime scenes.


Yet for the rank-and-file cops, the most significant change – spearheaded by MacKay, who picked up where the late Ted Larkin had left off – came in 1921 with the formation of the Police Association of New South Wales, which meant members had a body to represent their interests and defend them against arbitrary judgements from the higher-ups. This organisation quickly represented 80 per cent of the 2400 eligible officers. This was real progress, although it’d be another five years before the police won a forty-four-hour working week that included a scheduled day off.


McRae’s city work was more exciting and varied than it had been in the country. He came up against illegal abortionists, bigamists and burglars, jewel thieves and child molesters. But he also knew that making an arrest was no guarantee that justice would be served. In December 1921, he was one of the officers to collar a man for fatally fracturing another bloke’s skull during a scuffle, only for the jury to acquit the accused of the charge of manslaughter and set him free. Such cases weren’t uncommon.


McRae’s promotion and new posting meant he and Mildred could now expect to remain in Sydney, and they lived in a house called Oakleigh, in Keith Street in the beach suburb of Clovelly. This settling-down seemed complete in July 1921 when Mildred, who was now forty-one, fell pregnant again. Their baby daughter was born two months premature on 13 February 1922 at the Royal Hospital for Women in Paddington. Tom and Mildred named her Joyce. Sadly, she lived just ten days. Like Tom’s little brother’s death, it was unfair and unfathomable. Mildred was overwhelmed by grief, likely now believing she’d never have children. With bereavement leave for state employees still decades away, Tom went straight back to his demanding workload.


Frustrating cases abounded. In July 1922, McRae arrested a returned soldier who’d recklessly driven a bus and killed a music teacher crossing a street, but the judge ruled there wasn’t enough evidence of negligence and directed the jury to return a verdict of not guilty.


In October 1922, a man was bashed to death in Centennial Park. McRae was one of the first on the scene, and would be part of the team to arrest Sylvester Patrick O’Reilly for this killing, although the Crown eventually dropped the case because there wasn’t enough evidence to secure a murder conviction. For McRae and his colleagues, this had to be infuriating. They were privy to O’Reilly’s sorry record: in the army he’d been court-martialled and sentenced to eighteen months for striking an officer, and he also had recent convictions for unprovoked violent assaults. The man clearly had form, but none of this would have been admissible evidence in the murder trial and O’Reilly was out on the streets again.


While it had been more than a year since Mildred and Tom had buried their daughter at Rookwood Cemetery, Mildred couldn’t escape the depression that engulfed her. On Thursday 8 March 1923, she was found partially dressed in wet clothes on the rocks at Gordons Bay, not far from the couple’s home in Keith Street. Mildred was reported as having become deranged by grief. Where was McRae? What could he do? Had his wife tried to drown herself? Could she be calmed or committed to care? Newspaper articles provide no insight into what happened after Mildred was found in this distressed state, but the next morning she went into her kitchen, turned on the oven’s gas and lay down to die. It wasn’t reported whether McRae found her body; it’s possible he did upon arriving home from work.


The coronial inquest concluded that Mildred had committed suicide. The Sydney Morning Herald reported: ‘Mrs McRae had suffered from nervous attacks since the death of her only child 12 months ago.’ Yet her despair might not only have been about her dead children. McRae would later admit that, while his wife was still alive, he had ‘known’ a single woman who lived nearby.


In 1923, after Mildred’s death, and while he was on duty, McRae became ‘lost’ with this lady friend in Frenchs Forest. How, why and for how long they were ‘lost’ wasn’t revealed. But his police bosses took a dim view of the matter. McRae made a report about his ‘absence’ and ‘asked’ to be put back into uniform while an inquiry was carried out. This penance came with a pay cut, because he no longer received the plainclothes allowance. No further disciplinary action was taken. But McRae was to say he spent two months in hospital after the incident, his description suggesting he’d suffered a mental breakdown.


By August 1924, McRae was back in action, running through the city streets, chasing two thieves he’d seen do a smash-and-grab at a jewellery store in George Street. He nabbed both perps in Hyde Park, but, as he was walking them back to the No. 1 police station, one of the blokes escaped and took off. McRae didn’t forget his face. The following month, patrolling on Elizabeth Street, he saw the bloke riding a tram. McRae jumped aboard and collared the crook. Such derring-do saw him feature in the papers as a brave crime fighter.


Another strange case from this time likely stuck in McRae’s memory. In October 1925, eighteen-year-old Robert Audley – well spoken, well educated and from a well-to-do family – went missing in Sydney; his father believed someone had induced him to leave. While a missing persons notice appeared in the Police Gazette, it wasn’t until the following April that the father appealed to the newspapers. They published Robert’s photo and a tantalising update: since the boy had disappeared, a small fortune had been left to him. Robert resurfaced, revealed he’d run away to work in the bush, and reunited with his dad.


But this spoiled young man was soon in trouble again, this time for stealing a car. Yet no one could’ve imagined the ghastly death and destruction that Robert Audley would one day wreak in McRae’s old beat of Cooma.


In July 1926, McRae was back in plain clothes, investigating a series of jewellery robberies, the case culminating with him and his colleagues digging up loot the suspect had buried beneath his house. In November, McRae’s keen observational skills saw him crack a smuggling syndicate that involved a disgraced police officer who’d been drummed out of the force. Teaming up with Billy MacKay, McRae set up a sting in which he and other officers hid in a premises while this crooked ex-copper stitched himself up with a lengthy confession. Smith’s Weekly headlined its admiring article about this case: ‘Sydney Constable’s Curiosity Leads to the Downfall of Big Wharf-Pillaging Gang’.


McRae used similar methods when a middle-aged creep and a young woman conspired to frame a businessman for rape, the sting in the intended victim’s house allowing police to overhear one of the extortionists making demands. Surveillance, sex and sleaze: the newspapers lapped up the story, even if, frustratingly, the accused pair weaselled their way out of convictions. McRae’s photo featured in the papers – an increasing occurrence as his profile grew.


By October 1928 McRae was promoted to detective-sergeant third class. He’d now work out of the CIB at Sydney’s police headquarters and report to its new boss, Inspector Billy MacKay. McRae regularly investigated city killings. Mostly, they were spur-of-the-moment murders and manslaughters. In the space of a few weeks in early 1929, a boarding house feud between two old men led to a fatal stabbing, while a street fight led to yet another unintended death from a fractured skull.


But then McRae was on the case of Vera Stirling – a macabre murder mystery like so many macabre murder mysteries to come – right as Sydney, New South Wales, Australia and the world began the descent into the darkness of the Great Depression.
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Death Among the Lilies


While history records that the Great Depression began in Australia after the Wall Street Crash of October 1929, the political titan and former New South Wales Labor premier Jack Lang believed its shadow loomed far earlier, and far closer to home.


‘The Big Fella’ dated the troubles to the slump in the coal industry and its moguls locking miners out of their Hunter Valley collieries in March 1929, because unionists working under a federal award refused to accept reduced pay and conditions. Overnight, 15,000 men were thrown out of work, and their families plunged into poverty, their only hope lying in solidarity against the owners and the conservative state government. At the same time, in Sydney, timber workers were locked out for refusing to obey a new industrial award that cut their pay while increasing their work week from forty-four to forty-eight hours. Thousands of these men and their families were similarly thrown on the breadline.


The miners and timber workers were bellwethers of troubles to come. But life was still humming along as usual for most Sydneysiders on the evening of Thursday 21 March 1929. Yet if people rushing home from work through Hyde Park cared to look around, they were afforded another preview of conditions that would soon be far more common. There, right in the heart of the city, people were camped amid the bushes. Their clothes were tattered and they had newspapers for bedclothes. Many were mired in alcoholism and vulnerable to violence. Yet the how and why of their desperation was likely of little concern to commuters still confident in their own employment and Australia’s economic stability.


As a denizen of this demimonde, Vera Stirling wouldn’t have elicited much sympathy. She looked older than her forty-seven years, and with her dark eyes and short black hair might have seemed like a faded flapper. Originally from New Zealand, with a ‘refined’ way of speaking, it was said that Vera had once been well-to-do in England. Yet she’d fallen far, working as a street prostitute, steeping herself in methylated spirits, sleeping in the city’s parks, and racking up more than forty convictions for drunkenness and vagrancy.


Early on Thursday night, Vera was near the Hyde Park fountain and in a blur of noisy, drunken motion. Wrapped in her brown coat, lank hair bouncing under a black hat, she did a jig on emaciated legs in torn black stockings as she stridently belted out Irish songs. Taking a break, Vera stopped another down-and-outer and produced a bottle from her bosom, asking the man, ‘Have a drink of meths?’ The chap waved her off and continued on his way to a shelter for the unemployed. But Vera would be dossing in the bed of newspapers she’d made in the eastern part of the park. As far as it went, this was a pleasant enough spot, in a triangular garden, off the path in the dark and amid canna lilies.


John Duncan was trying to get by as a bottle gatherer, paid a penny or so from the breweries for each empty he returned. Hyde Park early in the morning might offer pickings from the previous night’s careless drunks, and the eagled-eyed collector was there at six-thirty on Friday. Walking towards Oxford Street, he spied a brown coat with fur trimmings in a garden bed. Crossing the lawn, perhaps thinking the garment might bring a few shillings, he stopped short when he saw it was still wrapped around its owner. There was no doubt the woman was dead: her open eyes stared into the morning sky from a blue and distorted face. Her empty meths bottle lay nearby.


As traffic lights were still a few years in Sydney’s future, constables were seldom far from any given point in the city, directing cars, horses and carts, trams and trucks. The bottle collector rushed from Hyde Park to the nearest officer and related his gruesome discovery. He and the policeman hurried back to the garden, where a crowd was already forming. Fellow derelicts – dubbed ‘Domain dossers’ – muttered that this sure was a sad end for poor old Vera. A well-meaning onlooker, done with his morning newspaper and its stories about the coal lockout at Rothbury, another suicide at the Gap and the first all-talkie movie, placed its pages as a shroud over the dead woman.


Other uniforms from the Clarence Street station arrived on the scene. Even with the bruise over Vera’s left eyebrow and the dried blood at the corner of her mouth, her bedraggled state might have made it seem she’d died from drink and hard living. But what was sinister was that this poor creature’s hands had been tied – one over the other at the wrist, in the shape of a cross – with a flesh-coloured silk stocking.


The cops summoned their superiors, among them Tom McRae and his immediate boss, Inspector Prior, one of the state’s longest-serving and most respected officers.


~


Originally from the South Coast, William Parker Prior enlisted as a cop soon after Federation, having missed that historic event because he was serving in the Boer War. In 1903, Prior, like his future colleague McRae, married a slightly older woman. He and his wife, Lily, lived in Newtown, where Prior was stationed as a constable.


One of the biggest developments in policing came that same year when Sergeant Walter Childs established the Fingerprint Division. In early 1904, a Sydney burglar became the first person convicted in Australia using such evidence. But Prior’s own work was more likely to involve fists than fingerprints, because Newtown’s streets were among Sydney’s meanest. His cases ranged widely: a hamper baby, a stolen skeleton, a deserting boxer, shop thieves, park prowlers, cat burglars, bogus doctors, opium dealers. There were also rapists, manslaughterers, murderers and insane killers.


Like McRae, Prior experienced professional frustrations. One, in February 1911, was a case against an accused paedophile that failed despite his testimony and that of a former cop. In such acquittals, the implication was that police had lied. Truth newspaper characterised this particular verdict with the headline: ‘The Jury Think Ex-Constable Taylor and Constable Prior Were Guilty of Perjury’.


Whenever police testimony fell under a shadow – and it happened a lot – the central questions were broadly the same. What had the accused said after the arrest and during questioning? Who had witnessed any alleged admissions? Officers would give their comrade-corroborated assurances that the accused had made statements voluntarily. The accused and their defenders would argue that any ‘admissions’ were made under threat or inducement, or that their words had been maliciously misconstrued or even entirely fabricated. Judges would weigh whether police testimony was admissible. If deemed so, then a jury was to decide whether it was credible and supported by other evidence. The scales were tipped in the favour of the police and the prosecution, but verdicts didn’t always go their way.


Like McRae, Inspector Prior had also experienced personal tragedy. While McRae’s brother Archie had survived the Great War, Prior’s brother Claude had been killed in France in February 1917. Just over two years later, when a new daily mortality record for Spanish flu was set in Sydney, Prior’s forty-year-old wife, Lily, was among the eighteen to die. Then, in June 1920, young constable Roy Prior, who’d followed his older brother into the Sydney police, was on duty when he was knocked from the running board of a tram and suffered a fatal skull fracture. Like other officers killed or injured doing their jobs in the days before the Police Association of New South Wales was established, Roy wasn’t covered by insurance.


Professionally, though, Prior had risen during his time of grief. As a result of the royal commission into how police had handled the IWW cases, the inspector general recommended five officers be punished with transfer out of the CIB, and Prior filled one of the vacancies. His personal life brightened too when he remarried in May 1922. As the decade progressed, Prior enjoyed further promotions and became acting inspector in September 1928.


~


Now, in Hyde Park, with Vera Stirling dead at his feet, Prior was disturbed that the crime scene had been trampled by citizens and the first cops to arrive. They had likely obliterated clues, such as footprints, and their presence had tainted other potential evidence, such as cigarette butts.


Newsmen were also circling, sharks to blood in the water, a city murder promising a sensational read in a cut-throat market. Vera would make that afternoon’s edition of The Sun – which boasted the biggest circulation in Australia – and she’d be all over tomorrow’s Daily Telegraph, Evening News, Labor Daily and Sydney Morning Herald, before getting a weekend run in The Sunday Times and scandal sheet Truth.


McRae and Prior noted Vera’s facial injuries, and an abrasion and slight bruising on her neck. They found three shillings hidden in her ripped black stockings. ‘About all old Vera ever had at one time in her life,’ a vagrant mused. It seemed unlikely the motive was robbery. Maybe it had started as an argument between drunks? Vera could’ve been knocked down with a punch and then strangled. She was so frail it wouldn’t have taken much to finish her off. But why tie her wrists? That her clothing was disarranged suggested the restraints had been used in a rape that ended in murder. Yet, contradicting this, there was no sign of a struggle – or that she’d resisted being bound.


The detectives beat the bushes for clues. A few feet away they found another bottle containing a little whisky. McRae also discovered the ‘mate’ of the flesh-coloured silk stocking used to bind Vera. While a man might carry such finery as a gift for a paramour, this hosiery was old, worn and torn. Perhaps a female vagrant had taken off her own stockings to render Vera helpless?


By 10am the crowd had grown. Whenever there was a crime, Sydneysiders gathered. Kept back by a uniformed constable, men, women and the inevitable barefoot children stood on the lawn and gazed at the dead woman in the bushes. Photographers captured the onlookers, the detectives scrutinising the scene and Inspector Prior escorting the city coroner, Mr Edwin May, to examine the body. The coroner had only last year been promoted to his position, having previously been a police magistrate at Tamworth. Over the next few years, May would have his work cut out for him as he presided over inquests into some of the state’s grisliest deaths.


After May had made his necessary observations, Vera’s body was sent to the city morgue, where government medical officers (GMO) Dr Arthur Aubrey Palmer and Dr Stratford Sheldon, who would also figure in many cases to come, conducted the post-mortem. They concluded that Vera had died of asphyxia six to eight hours before she was found, likely of strangulation. That officially made this a murder investigation.


The paucity of physical evidence meant this mystery would likely only be solved with the help of witnesses. Police had to find someone who’d seen something in the park. That was easier said than done, when it had been so dark and most everyone so drunk. Prior, McRae and other detectives scoured Hyde Park and walked Darlinghurst, Surry Hills, East Sydney and Woolloomooloo. Heads bent to notebooks, they stood beside garden beds, outside cheap hotels and corner stores, interviewing the underclass. They heard that Vera’s husband had been an English sea captain; that she sometimes got large, unexplained sums of money; that she was ladylike when sober but on the meths was rowdy; and that she’d sunk so low that she’d go with foreigners and ‘coloured men’.


For the past three nights Vera had slept on her newspaper bed amid the lilies. Before she’d retreated to this haunt for the final time, the detectives learned, she’d been talking with two men near ‘Mount Stokes’, a huge, unsightly pile of muck excavated from the underground railway loop being built to connect with the Sydney Harbour Bridge, whose arches were slowly reaching for each other over the waterway that divided the city. McRae and his colleagues located and cleared these blokes. They were back at square one.


With an official media unit decades away, detectives and reporters developed informal relationships, trading information at crime scenes, police stations and over beers at the early-opening pubs frequented by cops coming off the night shift. The papers usually depicted detectives in glowing terms, faithfully issued their calls for public assistance and suppressed information that might hinder the hunt for a murderer. The Sun’s police roundsman, Bill Carrick, was held in such esteem that when he died in 1947, Billy MacKay, by then the commissioner of police, ordered a special police motorcycle escort for the funeral, which was attended by CIB detectives and uniformed men.


The Sydney Morning Herald’s reporter Selwyn Speight – who would cover 122 murders in his career – characterised the relationship in this way:


If you deal with a policeman and he’ll trust you, and over years and years and years, you never let him down, you can get almost anything you want out of him. But there is a danger there, of course, that you get so friendly with the police you almost get in their pocket.


The cops ‘rewarded’ reporters by sharing with them various theories under consideration. Articles often contained all these speculations – no matter how contradictory – plus whatever the journalist or his rewrite man conjured up for maximum sensation. Newspapers also undermined each other whenever possible.


Vera Stirling got this treatment. When Truth made much of the torn skin-coloured silk stockings and suggested a woman was the killer, The Sun scoffed because it had learned Vera collected odd garments – the leggings that bound her wrists had likely belonged to her. When Truth raised the chilling possibility that Vera was killed by whoever left another ‘woman of ill repute’, May Anderson, ‘frightfully mutilated and maltreated’ in the scrub near Long Bay Gaol in May 1924, The Daily Telegraph came back with the possibility that Vera hadn’t even been murdered, reporting the police’s new theory: she’d fallen down drunk and suffocated in the garden, some other derelict ‘with a spark of religion still smouldering’ tying her hands ‘in the shape of a cross’. This would mean the police didn’t have a murder to solve. Besides, who’d want to kill Vera? The Herald put it bleakly:


Then, so far as can be ascertained, there could be no motive for such a crime, for the woman, while she had no friends, also had no bitter enemies, indeed, nobody cared about her. She, with her companions of the parks, had touched the depths. It seems that the circumstances of her death will remain a mystery.


The Sunday Times flirted with criticism of the cops. Recently, it reminded readers, the government had sent Chief Inspector MacKay and two other detectives to Scotland Yard to learn the latest investigation techniques. The paper had called this trip an unnecessary and expensive ‘joy ride’. Though MacKay was still away, the other senior men, Detective-Sergeant James Quinn and Detective-Constable Walter Lawrence had returned to Sydney. So why hadn’t one or both of these men been assigned to the Vera Stirling case? Failure to do so had contributed to the public impression the police weren’t doing everything they could to solve the murder because of the victim’s lowly status. But the problem was solved in mid-April at the inquest, when Coroner May ruled that while Vera had asphyxiated, he couldn’t say how it’d happened, so it wasn’t officially murder.


Vera Stirling had straddled society’s lower and upper echelons before she’d been found dead in a bush camp in the middle of the city, the victim of either luck so bad it resembled murder or of a cold-blooded killer who might strike again. Thus, her case contained many elements that would confront McRae, Prior, their fellow detectives, Mr May and other magistrates and judges as they faced some of the most sensational criminal investigations of the Great Depression. But, for the moment, Vera was forgotten in her pauper’s grave.


Until, on 7 May 1929, she was briefly resurrected – at least in the press – when the body of seventy-year-old alcoholic and vagrant Selina Stanley was found in a vacant lot in Erskineville. Nearby were the remains of her last lonely meal and a handbag containing a flask of meths and half a quid in coins. Though her body was bruised, it was at first thought she’d died from natural causes. But Dr Palmer’s post-mortem revealed that her killer or killers had used a weapon to inflict shocking internal injuries.


Selina, per Truth’s headline, had been the ‘Derelict Victim of Vile Human Monster’, sacrificed to the ‘bestial instincts of a sexual maniac’. Detectives found no murder weapon and no other evidence at the scene. While a local had seen an odd-looking man apparently watching Selina, no one had any further information of use. CIB men – including lead investigator Detective-Sergeant Quinn, recent Scotland Yard student – came up against the same problems their colleagues had six weeks earlier: most of the people who’d known Selina were drink-addled drifters.


Reporters asked: had Vera been murdered, and had this monster now killed again? Detectives dismissed the idea, saying that even if Vera had been strangled, it was unlikely the killer would know about Selina’s Erskineville haunt. In any case, such a pervert would surely have come under their scrutiny already. Both were thin arguments. An opportunistic killer might seek out such lonely spots knowing he’d find vulnerable victims and could go about his dreadful business with less fear of being disturbed or detected. And only an omniscient police force could be aware of every demented suspect.


Looking further back, the newspapers said Selina’s horrific death most resembled the 1924 rape-murder of May Anderson. Detectives didn’t want to consider that possibility either – at least publicly. They appeared vindicated in mid-May, when they arrested a sixty-three-year-old labourer and held him on a vagrancy charge. But at the inquest at the end of the month, Mr May set him free for lack of evidence. He delivered an open verdict: Selina Stanley had been murdered by a person or persons unknown.


By the time Detective-Sergeant Quinn had hit that brick wall, Inspector MacKay had returned from his overseas study tour. He’d learned not only from Scotland Yard but also from police peers in Europe, Canada and the United States. MacKay was about to shake up the New South Wales police force, for better and for worse.
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MacKay, Moxley, and Cops as Killers


Billy MacKay would become a policing legend – not least thanks to glowing newspaper accounts of his background, adventures and achievements. He was also prone to mythmaking. ‘I was born in a police station,’ he told one audience, ‘brought up in a police station, and have done police work morning, noon and night.’


William John MacKay came into the world in 1885 in Glasgow, and followed his veteran police inspector father into the force in 1905. The youngster, who stood six-foot-two and was nicknamed ‘Big Bill’, made detective-constable within two years. He would boast that he’d been instrumental in the 1909 apprehension of a murderer, but this was almost certainly false – and it was curious that MacKay continued to make this claim even after it was shown that the police had fabricated evidence in that case, and the accused was exonerated, set free and given hefty compensation.


MacKay’s real career in Glasgow was far more modest. He quit the force in January 1910, migrated to Sydney in April and joined the New South Wales police force in June. MacKay came up with another origin story about how he again embraced the uniform in his new home. He claimed that he first worked as a clerk in Sydney. One day, he was standing on a city street when he saw two pickpockets preying on a man. MacKay weighed in with his fists, collaring the crooks, helping a uniformed constable and a plainclothes detective take them to the station. When MacKay gave evidence, the detective was mightily impressed and suggested he join the NSW force. He signed up that day – and never looked back.


While he’d supposedly started with a punchy citizen’s arrest, MacKay was at first a paper-pusher, serving as clerk, but he soon became personal assistant to Inspector General James Mitchell, this powerful Scotsman becoming his mentor. MacKay’s shorthand skills were less exciting than his yarn about fisticuffs but they were what made his mark as a crime-fighter. In 1916, MacKay was involved in the IWW case, which became infamous because police were suspected of framing these twelve ‘Wobblies’, as members of this union were known. The men faced court for sedition, arson and conspiracy. While MacKay’s official role was limited, in the leftist press he was later blamed for this anti-worker frame-up happening in the first place. In their account, MacKay and his partner Constable George Ferguson had been first to report to their superiors that IWW members were ‘spreading sedition and selling the pamphlet Sabotage in the Domain on Sundays’. Ferguson had then recruited an IWW member who lied and perjured himself to say Wobblies were planning arson attacks on Sydney. MacKay took shorthand notes at IWW speeches; he’d testify the radicals knew he was doing so and made jokes like ‘Hello, Mack, have you got your notebook with you?’ MacKay read his notes at trial – and identified signatures from one of the accused on allegedly seditious letters. But MacKay had nothing to do with the evidence – allegedly planted and fabricated in ‘confessions’ – used to convict the men of arson and conspiracy. While some of the IWW convictions would be upheld in a 1920 inquiry, key witnesses were also found to be liars and perjurers. It was ruled the Wobblies had been given excessive punishments and they were all released. Enquiries revealed that five senior officers had accepted clothes from one of these dodgy witnesses, who himself hoped to avoid prosecution for forgery. These police – one of them was Detective Jacob Miller, who’d figure in many later major murder cases – were shunted from the CIB. As we have seen, Detective Prior filled one of the vacancies and another went to Detective James Comans, also prominent later in homicide investigations.


Despite this murky outcome, the IWW case put MacKay on the fast track. In 1917, Inspector General Mitchell cited him as having been instrumental in the IWW convictions and recommended his promotion to sergeant third class. Long after the dust settled, Sydney’s leftists remembered MacKay as the villain of the IWW case, a man who’d built his career on the injustice he’d perpetrated. The Workers’ Weekly would say: ‘MacKay had an excellent training in stop-at-nothing service against militant workers.’


But MacKay also united workers. As a man whose rise was often described as ‘meteoric’, in 1920, he used his influence with the inspector general and his support from the rank and file to help push for the formation of the Police Association of New South Wales the following year. Through the decade, MacKay’s ascent continued and promotions followed, with him promoted to acting inspector third class in 1925. Big Bill’s most public success came after 1927, when Mitchell – his title by then changed from inspector general to police commissioner – gave his protégé the job of reporting on Darlinghurst, or ‘Razorhurst’, as it was known. Gangs controlled by Kate Leigh, Tilly Devine and other mobsters had made a battleground of eastern Sydney and surrounds, as they slashed with razors and shot with revolvers to control the drugs, sly-grog and sex trades. MacKay endorsed calls for more police and more police powers – including draconian consorting and vagrancy laws – and set about busting down doors. In a period of press hysteria, he was lionised as the two-fisted senior copper taking the fight to the villains of the vice underworld.


A later Daily Telegraph profile provided a neat summary of this perception:


By day MacKay did his office work in his frogged coat like a good inspector. At night he changed into a lounge suit and led a series of raids which began the end of the razor gangs. He raided brothels, sly-grog joints, and stand-over men’s houses. The judges were in spirit behind him. A thug who saw MacKay’s shoulder come splintering through his door knew he could look forward to a seven stretch.


For his efforts in suppression, in 1928 Big Bill was made detective inspector and given charge of the CIB. While he was well known to Sydneysiders, some of his methods were only revealed decades later. One was that, in the early to mid-1920s, he’d turned a Paddington probationary constable named Frank Fahy into ‘The Shadow’, Australia’s first permanent undercover man. Fahy’s recruitment and his work were so secret that for many years they apparently weren’t known even to the premier or chief secretary.


The Shadow would pose as a burglar, a drunk, a gambler – whatever would get him into criminal dens, sly-grog shops, two-up schools. Dirty and unwashed, he blended with the faces in the streets or on the wharfs, listening, observing and reporting back to MacKay. While Fahy’s undercover work resulted in arrests and convictions, it also revealed the brutality of his fellow officers. Scooped up with other vagrants, or rounded up in raids, he was regularly beaten by comrades who had no idea of his identity. On one occasion, a blow split his lip and knocked out two teeth.


These tales wouldn’t be told until the 1950s. When they were, Fahy would also recall that, upon his recruitment, MacKay had revealed one of the other secret weapons in the fight against crime – his roll call of ‘fizgigs’, or informants. One of these dark stars was a minor crook named William Cyril Moxley. ‘Moxley is one of the best leaks we have,’ MacKay said. ‘That would give the underworld a shock, wouldn’t it?’


It would – and Moxley was to become inextricably linked to MacKay.


~


Moxley had actually been born Silas William Moxley in Rockhampton in March 1899. His father, Walter, was a hawker who was shot in the stomach during a pub altercation in 1902. While the bullet couldn’t be removed, Walter recovered and received £100 compensation, which his wife, Julia, according to reports of their 1904 divorce, squandered before kicking him to the kerb and embarking on a spree of drunken adultery. Moxley’s mother then moved young William and his siblings to Redfern in Sydney.


In January 1910, William, then ten, and his six-year-old brother Donald were visiting a relative’s house when they found a shotgun leaning against a fence. The younger boy said: ‘Point it at me for fun.’ Moxley did and, thinking the gun unloaded, pulled the trigger and blew little Donald out of this world. An inquest cleared him of blame but his mental trauma was likely significant and long-lasting. The next year he learned his father had finally died as a result of that bullet in his belly.


For about eighteen months from April 1912, Moxley worked as telephone attendant at Sydney University and left with a good reference. As an adult, he had a distinctive look – he stood a little under five-foot-ten but was very slender, with a narrow face, wavy fair hair, big ears and slightly buggy grey eyes. In 1917 he worked as a ‘scab’ tram conductor for the duration of the Great Strike.


In May 1918 Moxley enlisted in the AIF, shipping from Sydney in July aboard the transport Borda. He didn’t even make it out of the country before getting in trouble for being absent without leave in Western Australia, fined ten days’ pay for his transgression. While at sea there was more trouble, when he disobeyed and insulted an officer. Moxley disembarked in London at the end of September 1918, arriving too late to see action. Awaiting return to Australia, he married an English waitress named Ada Murphy in August 1919. Perhaps feeling entitled to a honeymoon, he took off for a couple of months from October. Caught in December 1919, he was returned to Sydney in March 1920 and discharged as permanently unfit for further service – not surprising, given his undistinguished record. Shortly afterwards, Ada gave birth to a boy they named Douglas.


Moxley embraced peacetime by embarking on a new career as a crook, being convicted on two counts of theft in October 1920 in Glebe and fined £6. In April 1921, trying his hand in Brisbane, he was arrested for ‘stealing with actual violence’, having pushed a female cashier to the ground to grab £115 in a store and collided with a mother and child as he escaped through the streets. Moxley was caught under a bed in a suburban house, with an unloaded revolver in his pocket. He tugged on the magistrate’s heartstrings, saying he’d come up from Sydney looking for work to support his English wife and baby son, and, after failing to get a job, had committed the crime in a sudden fit of temptation. ‘I did not realise at the time what I was doing,’ he pleaded. Convicted only of larceny, the magistrate gave him a three-year suspended sentence on a £100 bond.


But when Moxley was soon afterwards arrested on the Sunshine Coast on an outstanding warrant from New South Wales, he escaped and went on the run, making news again before he was recaptured and extradited to Sydney. There, he faced various charges for stealing and false pretences and was sentenced to two years – only to be allowed to go free on another probation.


Moxley’s luck held in January 1923. Following a Chippendale break-and-enter, he was hiding out at a Redfern house with Ada and some members of his gang when it was raided by police. The Sun described the action thrillingly: ‘Moxley made a dash across the roof, jumped the partition fence, and bolted, with two policemen in pursuit. He got away, though the police tried to stop him by revolver fire.’


This chase apparently led to Moxley becoming MacKay’s fizgig. Told much later, in a fawning Daily Telegraph profile based on an interview with the police legend, the story went that the rising star of the NSW force felt he owed the small-time crook. He’d been after Moxley, when the fugitive had pulled a gun:


[Moxley] stopped, turned around, and raised his hand to fire. Moxley saw it was MacKay who was on his heels, wavered, and threw the gun over the fence. Moxley escaped that day. A few months later, when under arrest, MacKay asked him why he hadn’t fired: ‘I couldn’t do it, Mac,’ he said. ‘I just couldn’t do it.’


When Moxley was caught, he faced twenty charges of breaking, entering and stealing goods worth £3000. But he was no criminal mastermind, having sold much of the loot for pennies on the pound. Moxley played the sympathy card again in court, saying he couldn’t get work and so it was a case of ‘steal or starve’. The judge gave him three years.


Moxley was released in July 1925 – and the very next day began a string of cat burglaries around Sydney, stealing from places in Bellevue Hill and Point Piper in the east, Camperdown and Hurlstone Park in the west and Roseville and Waitara in the north. If nothing else, the man knew the city.


But Moxley didn’t know how to stay free. In court in November, he claimed to have ‘lost his head’ since coming back from the war. After being released from gaol, he said, he’d been offered a job in Queanbeyan but couldn’t get there because he had no money for a rail ticket and the Prisoners’ Aid Society and Prisons Department wouldn’t cough up. So he’d been forced to stay in Sydney and had lapsed back into these sorry ways.


His police record detailed how he’d force doors, break windows and even hide in premises he was going to burgle. On one occasion, he got away with £1500 worth of goods. Moxley was noted as an ‘expert house and shop breaker’ and ‘a very agile and cunning thief’ who ‘consorts with vagrants’ and ‘frequents hotels and billiard-rooms’. He was sentenced to two years. But Moxley was also declared a ‘habitual criminal’, which meant the authorities could keep him inside indefinitely once he’d served his time. For his sins, he was to remain behind bars far longer than his sentence required. But Moxley was no use as a fizgig inside.


~


MacKay – the ‘comet of the State Police Force’, as Truth styled him – arrived back in Sydney from his overseas tour in April 1929. He was glad, as he put it, to ‘get back into [the] harness’, which included taking charge of police activities against the timber workers. In July he personally supervised the raid on Trades Hall in which seven union leaders were arrested, and the subsequent warrantless searches of the Labor Council’s offices and the men’s homes. The seven were charged by MacKay with conspiracy to threaten and assault ‘volunteer workers’ – otherwise known as strike breakers. This was a constant refrain from the cops and conservatives: that unionists deployed ‘basher gangs’ against ‘scabs’.


Among those charged by Big Bill was Jock Garden. A fellow firebrand Scot, he’d been kicked out of the Labor Party as a communist and been a thorn in Lang’s side during his first stint as premier from 1925 to 1927. But Garden had become disillusioned with communism and rejoined Labor, and was becoming one of the Big Fella’s greatest allies as he campaigned against Nationalist premier Thomas Bavin in a bid to once again be state leader. While MacKay’s trumped-up charges against Garden and the others were dropped, the government’s use of the police against the timber workers remained ferocious. As Ray Blissett, then a constable and later a superintendent, would recall fondly of MacKay’s ‘flying squads’:


They were known among the timber workers as the basher gang, see, because they weren’t above jumping out of a car and giving a couple of pickets a hiding somewhere if they were causing a bit of trouble. And if they objected to getting a bit of a thumping, they’d say, ‘Don’t you swear at me,’ and lock ’em up for using indecent language  … In those days they did it and they got away with it.


A headline in The Workers’ Weekly on 2 August 1929 read ‘Sydney Police Run Amok Among the Pickets’, the article depicting MacKay on the frontlines, him and his cops trying to provoke violence at a protest outside a Pyrmont timber yard:


Inspector MacKay, head of the Criminal Investigation Bureau – who is applying the mystic knowledge he acquired at Scotland Yard, not to running the dope gangs to earth, but to directing anti-picket squads – made himself particularly conspicuous. He loudly greeted one official of the Labor Council, for instance, with every filthy expression in the language.


In September 1929, Bavin’s government signalled it was giving quasi-legal cover for police to break up even small groups of timber workers and coalminers by introducing an unlawful assemblies bill. That same month, MacKay was promoted to first-class inspector. Since returning from overseas, he had in fact been applying his ‘mystic knowledge’ to more than union suppression; he was working on a report that would reshape policing in New South Wales. But before it did, MacKay would stand accused of unleashing his cops to become killers.


~


Since February 1929, northern coalminers had remained locked out because they refused to accept that owners and the Nationalist state and federal governments could arbitrarily reduce their wages and conditions. When the Labor Party’s James Scullin won the federal election in October, it was on the back of a campaign that included promises to put the men back to work and lock up Rothbury colliery owner and caricature capitalist John ‘The Baron’ Brown. But a week after Scullin was sworn in as prime minister, Wall Street crashed.


With economic chaos looming, the new federal government wanted conciliation via a conference between themselves, the New South Wales government, mine owners and union officials. When this produced no solution, another was scheduled. But Premier Bavin wasn’t willing to wait on the outcome of further federal gabfests. He struck a deal with mine owners to use ‘volunteer workers’ to open their collieries – starting with Rothbury – and sent his despised minister for mines and forests, Reginald Weaver, to the Hunter region to stir up trouble with the unionists and set up a camp for the scabs and the police who’d guard them. The battlelines were drawn.


In the early hours of Monday 16 December 1929, some 5000 miners assembled for a mass picket at Rothbury. When they marched on the colliery and tried to go over the fence, police rushed from the scrub and attacked with batons. Miners rained stones down on the cops. The battle raged until police started shooting and the miners retreated, some savagely beaten as they tried to escape, three suffering minor gunshot injuries.


After a stand-off, some miners attacked a car approaching the colliery because they believed it contained Weaver. Police rushed to defend the car, a battle erupted further down the fenceline and constables opened fire as miners scattered. This time the bullets did far more damage. Young miner Norman Brown took a bullet through the stomach as he tried to escape, and died before he arrived at Maitland Hospital. One man was hit in the throat, another in the spine and six others suffered serious wounds. More than a dozen more men were reportedly hit and sought treatment in secret.


The police had fired 122 shots and would claim, without evidence, that they’d only done so after being fired on. Their argument that they’d only shot into the ground or into the air was equally dubious. A new battle for Rothbury – this one for the truth – began in the days that followed.


The conservative newspapers lined up behind the police’s version of events, praising their ‘unflinching courage’ and ‘remarkable forbearance’ in holding off before using their revolvers and in ‘taking deliberate aim to ensure that no serious injury should be done to anyone’. In the New South Wales parliament, Labor opposition leader Lang railed against the Bavin government and said the ‘swashbuckling minister’ Weaver, ‘with an army of police, went among the miners while they were yet peaceful, rattling the sabre’. As if on cue, Weaver entered the parliament to cries from one opposition member: ‘Here comes the murderer!’


Tens of thousands of unionists and their supporters assembled in Hyde Park that night. Norman Brown’s death, Jock Garden told the crowd, was ‘wanton murder’. With the speeches over, there was a call for a march on state parliament. Most filtered away, but many made for Macquarie Street and were confronted by several hundred police.


Even the conservative newspapers painted a brutal picture. The Sun reported: ‘Nothing happened, till the police, as though tired of being kept about for so long doing nothing, made their first sudden raid on the crowd. They drew their batons, which they did not hesitate to use on any who loitered.’


The Sydney Morning Herald said police ‘struck at the heads and shoulders of those who were resisting them. There were several further baton charges and forays to chase pickets into laneways.’ This was clearly offensive policing by officers unafraid of consequence.


The Lang-controlled paper Labor Daily reported: ‘In one of the fiercest baton charges ever staged by police in Sydney, innumerable people were struck down in Queens Square last night. Excited constables, their conception of the position enlarged by the happenings at Rothbury, ruthlessly batoned men and women.’


The conversative press reported that a few people were hurt badly enough to seek treatment. Labor Daily put the injury toll far higher, naming citizens treated at Sydney Hospital and listing their injuries, including a husband and wife, he with concussion and her with shock and abrasions. All night, the paper said, people had visited the office to show their wounds and describe the beatings – including a well-known female journalist bashed for no reason. Several victims made official complaints. But New South Wales chief secretary Frank Chaffey said the police were ‘to be commended for the way they stopped a determined attempt to rush on parliament house’. Reports of brutality were ‘one-sided’, and he simply didn’t believe any women had been hit. In state parliament, Labor’s whip labelled Bavin’s regime a ‘government of bashers, baton-wielders and batterers’.


Although MacKay wasn’t at Rothbury on 16 December, he departed Sydney to take control the next day. With the mine operating again, a large number of police were camped inside to protect its scab workforce, and hundreds more were deployed around the coalfields. Their stated purpose was to keep the peace. In reality, this was a brutal campaign of intimidation and suppression, aided and directed by MacKay’s infiltrators and agents provocateur.


Big Bill himself was in the thick of it. In the first week of January 1930, MacKay had his coat off and his sleeves up as he led two carloads of police in a warrantless raid on a unionist’s house in search of a non-existent Gatling gun. Days later, MacKay and his men stopped a car carrying six miners. The inspector allegedly took one aside, punched him in the jaw and threatened: ‘We are not going to shoot for fun next time.’ Miners organised to protect themselves, with 400 war veterans establishing the Labour Defence Army. But Bavin wasn’t going to tolerate such defiance. MacKay was given free rein to recruit seventy Sydney officers to form a flying squad that would go north and camp at Cessnock Racecourse.


On 15 January, 2000 unionists gathered in Kurri Kurri for a protest march. They’d obtained a permit, so this was a legal gathering. Twenty-four local police walked beside the men to ensure the proceedings remained peaceful. The march ended without incident and the miners were about to head home when the police basher gangs descended. The Sun reported:


The flying squad arrived from Cessnock, and, jumping from the lorries and motorcycles which brought them, batons were drawn and the men charged. There was a wild scamper, men rushing in all directions. Women screamed, and a couple fainted, while the excitement lasted. The attack lasted about ... 10 or 15 minutes and then all was quiet again.


Tellingly, there were no arrests. Through the rest of that day, the flying squads roved around the coalfields, breaking up marches with violent and unprovoked baton attacks that injured a lot of people – and struck terror into an entire region.


Relief was also used as a weapon. During the Depression, the dole comprised food ration orders, which were handed out by police. Chief secretary Chaffey ordered that on the coalfields these only be given to ‘persons who observe the law’. This, of course, was at the discretion of constables, who could thus deny sustenance to men for any perceived slight or infraction. At Kurri Kurri the same week of the bashing attacks, one quarter of the 800 men who applied for rations went home empty-handed, suffering inflicted not only on them but also on their wives and children – as had been the case during the entire lockout.


When the inquest was held in February to establish how Norman Brown had been fatally shot at Rothbury, the coroner found it had been a tragic accident that resulted from a stray police bullet – even though the police had laudably not fired into the crowd. Despite getting no federal legal relief, the miners held out for the next four months, as intimidation and deprivation continued on the coalfields. But in mid-1930, facing a second brutal winter amid ever-worsening economic prospects, the Miners’ Federation voted to go back to work, accepting the cut pay and reduced conditions.


MacKay had been in the papers day after day while the coalfield battles raged, a hero to the right wing and centre, a villain to the left wing and radicals. When Lang’s Labor Daily printed an article headlined ‘Bavin Wants Bloody War!’, it listed MacKay’s crimes as including murder, grievous bodily harm, assault, warrantless searches and conspiracy to frame leaders. Yet, strangely, the paper also saw fit to comment: ‘Mr MacKay cannot be wholly blamed. His is a dirty job, but it is his job, and men have done even worse in their time  …’


A cynic might have wondered whether Lang was looking to a future in which he would be the one to wield a weapon as formidable as MacKay.


~


MacKay’s report to Walter Childs, father of fingerprinting in Australia and now CIB superintendent and acting commissioner, ushered in big policing changes starting from New Year’s Day 1930. The biggest might make tainted crime scenes – like Vera Stirling’s – a thing of the past. As The Sydney Morning Herald explained:


The present system whereby detectives operate from headquarters, and are summoned after local police have already inquired into a crime and realised its seriousness or difficulty, has permitted a great deal of overlapping. Upon countless occasions detectives have been summoned to investigate major crimes after some of the main clues have been handled or obliterated. First on the scene have been the local police, then have come the detectives, the inquiries of each militating against the possibilities of success against each other.


Sydney policing would now work on an area system – A, B, C and D – roughly corresponding with the points of the compass. Each was under the command of an inspector, with those men supervised by MacKay, and each had its own senior detectives and uniformed men, who were expected to know every inch of their turf and to be capable of handling serious investigations. But a crew of specialist detectives – including Tom McRae – were at the CIB and ready at a moment’s notice to join squads assembled to solve major crimes.


The CIB got new, larger offices at Central Police Station, in a lane between George and Pitt streets in the heart of the city. New investigative protocols were instituted and the Modus Operandi section was established. Under the ‘Modus Operandi’ record-keeping and retrieval system, when a crime was committed, clerks could quickly pull the records of all crooks known to operate in a similar way. Detectives then reviewed these rap sheets to narrow down potential suspects. The fingerprint and photographic branches also had their own CIB offices, so when criminals were brought in they could be promptly inked and have their mugs shot. Central’s radio operators got the latest equipment to broadcast orders to the powerful wireless cars assigned to constantly patrol the city’s four areas. Police boxes would start to be placed on the streets. These functioned as mini-stations for beat cops, who could use them to temporarily detain a prisoner until a ‘Black Maria’ van could collect them. When urgent action was required, CIB telephone operators would make calls to the boxes to advise patrolmen to be on the lookout for this or that suspect or car. There were a few boxes at first but it wouldn’t be long before there were hundreds. As far as possible, these changes sought to throw a police net over Sydney.


But MacKay went further for his CIB detectives, who’d begun as young cops without any rights or perks. Central Police Station didn’t only have a billiard room and library, it also had a first-floor cafe serving hot dinners. In a nice touch, this was run by Giuseppe ‘Joe’ Mucci, who claimed to be the son of the late crowned head of Italy, meaning the top cops were getting meals fit for a king and cooked by a prince.


Sydney policing really was entering a new age thanks to Big Bill.
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